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3eth-Hillel Synagogue

The Beth-Hillel Synagogue was built during the period 1901-1909 
in a classical vernacular style. A description of this structure is as 
follows.

Exterior:

The Synagogue is a rectangular, 2 1/2 story common bond brick structure
tfith corner and central pilasters. It rests upon a stone foundation and
is surmounted by an asphalt shingled mansard roof with eyelid dormers.

Entrances are located on the north and west facacdes. Each of the 
entrances contains plain wooden double doors. Located above each of these 
3oors is a Star of David, designed of brick, placed against the wall. The 
nain entrance (north) has a 1 story, 1 bay, brick two step porch surmounted 
by an asphalt shingled gable roof. The side entrance (west) has a concave, 
gabled hood which rests upon two plain wooden columns and a four step concret< 
stoop.

All windows in this unit are round arched with radiating vissiors, 2 
over 2 double hung sashes and overhead 3 light, mullion.

Interior:

The interior height is approximately 21' from floor to ceiling. On
plan, the Synagogue has one large room with end hall on the first floor
and a balcony at the second floor level.

Located centrally on the east wall between two windows is the ark 
(a repository traditionally in or against the wall of a Synagogue for the 
scrolls of the Torah) which in turn surmounts the bema. The ark is a 
paneled wooden cabinet approximately 6' high. Adjoining each of the 
cabinet's sides is a carved, gilded, peacock, the plumage of which extends 
three-quarters of the side's length. Surmounting the ark is another gilded 
carving incorporating a replica of the Torah and Commandments of God.

All of the above rest upon the bema which is a 2 stage podium 
surrounded by a banister comprised of turned newel posts, balusters 
and cyma, fillet handrails. Access to the bema is made by means of a 
pair of 3 step stairs located centrally to the north and south of the 
podium.

Located directly above the ark and bema is the eternal light which 
symbolizes the timeless presence of God.



Form No. 10-300a 
(Kev 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTI NU ATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER PAGE

7. DESCRIPTION (continued)

An open 3 run stair (to the balcony) is located in the main (eastern) 
hall.

The balcony extends across the interior (at the 2 nd floor level) On 
the northern, eastern and southern walls. The balcony contains seating 
traditionally used by the women in the congregation and a wainscotted 
rail with simple rounded handrail.

All walls in the Synagogue are 1/4 paneled, 
fabric of this structure still remains in tact.

Most of the original
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Beth-Hillel Synagogue is of local significance for the following 
reasons. Architecturally the Synagogue is of a classical vernacular type 
of the period. Furthermore, it is the only extant structure associated 
with the first Jewish settlement of Carmel and thus the religious and local 
history of Cumberland County.

Architecture:

The Beth-Hillel Synagogue, erected during the period 1901-1909, 
stands as a fair example of the classical vernacular style architecture 
in Carmel Township and outlying areas. It exemplifies the way in which 
religious edifaces incorporated details from major styles of the time. 
Notable exterior features include: corner and central pilasters, round 
arch windows with radiating vissiors, inset with a pair of 2 over 2 double 
hung sashes and overhead mullion. The interior features are the most 
noteworthy aspect of the Synagogue. These features include: paneled 
wooden ark with carved gilded peacocks and carved replica Torah, 2 stage 
bema with turned newel posts, balusters and cyma, fillet handrails, 1/4 
paneling and upper gallery.

Most of the original fabric of the Beth Hillel Synagogue remains 
intact.

Religion and History:

The following narrative depicts the origins of the first Jewish 
Carmel Settlement and the profound effect it had over the religious 
and local (social, economic) history of the Community of Carmel.

The Jewish settlement of Carmel began in 1882, when a group of 
Russian families emigrated to the area, with the help of one Michael 
Heilprin, to escape the large scale pogroms stimulated by the Russo- 
Turkish War and the assassination of Czar Alexander II.

Michael Heilprin, was born in Piotrkow Poland in 1823, where 
he lived until 1842. At this time he fled to Hungry, to escape Polish 
oppression, from whence he came to the United States setting 
in Carmel where he died in 1888.
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8. SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

The settlement was found in a little known section of South Jersey 
located on the crossroads; where the Bridgetown to Vineland Roads inter­ 
sects the Philadelphia to Cape May highway. During the early 1800's 
this parcel was known as Bever Dam. It serviced one tavern and several 
small farms owned and operated by a group of Pennsylvania Germans. This 
land proved to be poor for farming the result being that the property was 
willingly sold to the emigrating Jewish families. The community name was 
changed by its new inhabitant from Bever Dam to Carmel after the Bar Carmel 
in Palistine.

Michael Heilprin who had become the mainstay of the settlement, 
spent the 5 years following 1882 establishing an economic base for the 
community. He procured sewing machines and set up small "sweat shops" 
in each home, which did piece work brought from Philadelphia. Other 
occupations in the community included shoemaker, tanner, saddler, lock­ 
smith, tailor, cigarmaker, carpenter and farmer.

When Michael Heilprin died in 1888, Rabbi Sabato Morais (trustee of 
the Baron de Hirsch Fund) became interested in the colony. At the request 
of one Moses Klein, of Philadelphia, Morais visited Carmel and reported his 
findings in the "Migdal Zophim". The above document was placed in the Librar 
of Congress collection in 1889. According to this work there were only 30 
homes to service a population of 286 Jews. As a direct result of Rabbi Sabab 
Morais's report the colonists received $5,000 from the Baron de Hirsch Fund 
for the purchase of 36 new homes and other necessary objects.

In the early 1890's the sewing work had increased in size to the 
point where a 3 story factory was built and several related businesses 
(clothing) were instituted. By the turn of the century Carmel had 
grown from 36 families to 89 and several more factories were put into 
operation, these provided the main source of income for the colonists.

However, Carmel's prosperous outlook only lasted for a time, for 
the community could not stay the pace of the rapidly advancing techniques 
of industrialization. Gradually the factories closed and many of the 
families moved leaving the town much as it is today.

The present Synagogue, erected during the period 1901-1907 and 
named Beth-Hillel, is the only extant structure soley connected with the 
first settlement of Carmel. It was built by means of contributions of 
the citizens of Carmel as a focal point to identify their past.



Form No 10-300a 
(Hev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR 
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

CONTI NUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER PAGE

9. BIBLIOGRAPHY (continued)

B. Souvenir Booklet of 75th Anniversary of Carmel, New Jersey, copy is 
in possession Mrs. Lillian April, information concerning Migdal 
Zophim appears therein.


